

SCHEDULE OF ANNEXURES TO THE CUSTOMS RULES AND REGULATION OF BHUTAN- REVISED EDITION 2023

Royal Government of Bhutan Ministry of Finance Department of Revenue and Customs



5্থা ইপাস্থ্ৰব'বেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



DRC/CUS/PFLA(Facilitation)/06/2025-2026/183

30th July 2025

FORWARD

In exercise of the power conferred by **Chapter 1**, **Section 3 of the Customs Rules and Regulation of Bhutan**, **Revised edition 2023**, the Department of Revenue and Customs, under the Ministry of Finance, formally introduce the Schedule of Annexures. This step has been taken as per the Saving Clause of the Rules, which stated that the annexures under the old Customs Rules and Regulations of Bhutan 2017 would remain effective "until the implementation of the Electronic Customs Management System (eCMS)". It helps to streamline customs operations and provides better clarity to Customs officers, traders, and the trading community, especially during times when annexures are needed for specific customs procedures. Almost all the annexures under this new schedule are system-generated through the eCMS. This means that most forms, documents, and letters can now be produced automatically by the system, ensuring efficiency and reducing human errors. However, recognizing the challenges that may occur in Bhutan such as internet outages or power failures, these hardcopy or printable versions will serve as a backup for reference and immediate use.

One important annexure that is crucial during such situations include Single Administrative Documents (SADs): These are the declaration forms which are essential for the clearance of goods through Customs, and without them, goods cannot be legally moved across borders. When the system is down, traders and Customs officials can fall back on these physical annexures to continue with the clearance of goods and avoid unnecessary delays. Having these annexures ready ensures that trade continues smoothly even when technology fails.

It reflects the DRC's commitment to maintaining trade facilitation while also upholding regulatory compliance. The Schedule of Annexures also brings uniformity and consistency across all Customs stations. Every Customs officer and trader will now refer to the same set of documents, minimizing confusion and ensuring smoother procedures at all times. For traders, it provides certainty about which annexures are needed for which purpose, and under what conditions they should be used.

This schedule of Annexure to the Customs Rules and Regulation of Bhutan-Revised Edition 2023, supersede the previous annexure and it shall come into force from 6th Day of the 6th Month of the Wood Female Snake Year corresponding to 30th July, 2025.

(Sonam Jamtsho)

Director General



বৃহ্বাস্থ্যসম্প্রন্দ্রশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ANNEX 1: DESIGNATED CUSTOMS STATIONS AND AREAS	1
ANNEX 2: REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE FOR TEMPORARY STORAGE OPERATOR/WAREHOUSE OPERATOR/CLEARING AND FORWARDING AGENT	2
ANNEX 3: TEMPORARY STORAGE FEES AND CHARGES APPLICABLE IF GOODS ARE NOT CLEARED WITHIN 7 WORKING DAYS	
ANNEX 4: CATEGORIES OF RESTRICTED AND PROHIBITED GOODS	4
ANNEX 5: LIST OF HOUSEHOLD AND PERSONAL EFFECT ITEMS – (TRANSFER OF RESIDENCE)	7
ANNEX 6: EXEMPTION ELIGIBILITY AND CATEGORIZATION CERTIFICATION FORM FOR DIPLOMATIC MISSIONS, INTERNATIONAL AGENCIES, AND THEIR EMPLOYEE AND MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL VOLUNTARY ORGANIZATIONS	S
ANNEX 7: EXEMPTION CERTIFICATE	9
ANNEX 8: AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT & AUTHORISED CLEARING & FORWARDING AGENT OR COURIER SERVICES AGENT	
ANNEX 9: LIST OF AUTHORIZED CUSTOMS PORTS OF ENTRY AND EXIT	14
ANNEX 10: AIR PASSENGER MANIFEST	15
ANNEX 11: AIR CARGO MANIFEST	16
ANNEX 12: ROAD CARGO MANIFEST	17
ANNEX 13: RAIL MANIFEST	18
ANNEX 14: SINGLE ADMINISTRATIVE DOCUMENTS(SAD)	19
ANNEX 15: CUSTOMS EXAMINATION REPORT	21
ANNEX 16: EXECUTION OF A SECURITY DEPOSIT OR BOND	22
ANNEX 17: SAMPLE MEMO	24
ANNEX 18: CERTIFICATE FOR AUTHORIZED COMPLIANT TRADER	25
ANNEX 19: AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT AND THE WAREHOUSE OPERATOR	26
ANNEX 22: FREE BAGGAGE ALLOWANCE FOR AIR PASSENGER	28
ANNEX 24: SAMPLE FOR EXERCISE ON COMPUTATION OF THE WEIGHTED AVERA METHOD (FOR ILLUSTRATION PURPOSE ONLY)	
ANNEX 25: APPROVAL FOR ADVANCE RULING	30
ANNEX 26: OFFENCE REPORT (DETENTION/SEIZURE/CONFISCATION) FOR GOODS	S 31
ANNEX 27: SUMMON ORDER	33
ANNEX 28: OVERTIME FEES	34



5্ম'স্ট্রম'মুব্'মেনা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 1: DESIGNATED CUSTOMS STATIONS AND AREAS

The following are the designated Customs stations through which goods may be imported or exported, or transited to and from Bhutan.

District or Dzongkhag	Office Name and Sub-District/ Dzongkhag	Name of Customs Station	Seasonal office or check-post	Trade with countries other than India	Import from India	Export
		Foreign Post Parcel	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Thimphu	RRCO, Thimphu	DHL International, Thimphu	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
		Thimphu	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
		Samtse	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
		Gomtu	No	No	Yes	Yes
Samtse	RRCO, Samtse	Pugli	No	No	Yes	Yes
		Jitti	No	No	Yes	Yes
		Bhimtar	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Paro	RRCO, Paro	Terminal- Paro Airport	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	,	Cargo- Paro Airport	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
		Gelephu	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Sarpang	RRCO, Gelephu	Sompangkha-Ulta- Pani	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
		Phuntsholing Mini Dry Port	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Chhukha	RRCO, Phuentsholing	Alley Land Customs, Pasakha	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
		Lamoizingkha	No	No	Yes	Yes
		Samdrup Jongkhar	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Samdrup	RRCO, Samdrup	Pelzomthang (Nanglam)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Jongkhar	Jongkhar	Jomotshangkha (Daifam)	No	No	Yes	Yes
		Samrang	No	No	Yes	Yes
Phuntshorabtenling (Motanga)		No	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Mongar	RRCO, Mongar	Customs Office	No	No	No	No
Bumthang	RRCO, Bumthang	Customs Office	No	No	No	No
Kolkatta	Liaison and Transit Office, Kolkata	LTO, Kolkata	No	Yes	No	No

ANNEX 2: REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE FOR TEMPORARY STORAGE OPERATOR/WAREHOUSE OPERATOR/CLEARING AND FORWARDING AGENT.

	CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION	<u>DN</u>
Registration No.:		Date of Issue:
	Гетрогату Storage Operator/Warehouse Ope	Taxpayer Nois/are hereby
		OF EVENUE & CUSTOME



বৃদ্ধান্তমানু Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 3: TEMPORARY STORAGE FEES AND CHARGES APPLICABLE IF GOODS ARE NOT CLEARED WITHIN 7 WORKING DAYS

[The rates prescribed below are in Ngultrum and are per day per package basis]

	nsignments of less Kilograms (Kgs)	•	ments of more ograms (Kgs)	Vehic	ele
Hazardous Perishable	Non-hazardous/ Non-perishable	Hazardous Non-hazardous/ Perishable Non-perishable		Heavy	Light
40.00	20.00	200.00	100.00	200.00	100.00



৲ড়্ম'স্কুর'মেনা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 4: CATEGORIES OF RESTRICTED AND PROHIBITED GOODS

Sl. No.	Restricted Goods	Responsible Agencies	Legislation & International Conventions
1	Arms and ammunition	Ministry of Home Affairs (Royal Bhutan Police)	Firearms and Ammunition Act of Bhutan 1990
2	Unmanned Aircraft System (UAS)/Drones	Ministry of Infrastructure & Transport (Bhutan Civil Aviation Authority)	 UAS Regulation 2017 MoIT Notification No. MoHCA/BLO(3)-1/3014 dated April 13, 2017
3	Explosives and explosive devices	Ministry of Home Affairs (Royal Bhutan Police)	Explosive Rules of 1989
4	Live animals and their products or byproducts Ministry of Health (Bhutan Food and Drug Authority		Livestock Act, 2001CITES
5	Plant and plant materials	Ministry of Health (Bhutan Food and Drug Authority)	 Plant Quarantine Act of 1993 Forest and Nature Conservation Act 2023 Bio-diversity Act 2022 Bio-Safety Act 2015 International Plant Protection Convention International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture CITES Food Act 2005
6	Forestry products (flora and fauna) in accordance with the Forest and Nature Conservation Act and its regulations thereof.	Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources (Department of Forest and Park Services)	 Forest and Nature Conservation Act 2023 International Plant Protection Convention
7	Industrial and toxic wastes and residues	Department of Environment and Climate Change	National Environment Protection Act 2007Basel Convention
8	Wireless and remote sensing, telecommunication, and broadcasting equipment	Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Employment (Bhutan Information and Communication Media Authority)	Bhutan Information Communications and Media Act, 2006"



বৃহ্ও স্ট্রিম'ম্বুর'মেনা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



Sl. No.	Restricted Goods	Responsible Agencies	Legislation & International Conventions
9	Scraps as notified by the National Environment Commission Secretariat	Department of Environment and Climate Change	 Regulation on the Import of Third Countries Good Basel Convention on the Control of Trans- boundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal
10	Used or second-hand goods, vehicles, machinery, and equipment	Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Employment (Department of Trade)	 Regulation on the Import of Third Countries Goods Basel Convention on the Control of Trans- boundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal National Environment Protection Act 2007
11	Medicinal products, including narcotics and psychotropic substances for medical use	Ministry of Health (Bhutan Food and Drug Authority)	 Medicine Act 2003 Narcotic Drugs, Psychotropic Substances & Substance Abuse Act of Bhutan, 2018
12	Other Narcotics and psychotropic substances, and precursors	Ministry of Health (Bhutan Food and Drug Authority)	 Narcotic Drugs, Psychotropic Substances & Substance Abuse Act of Bhutan, 2018
13	Chemicals and Fertilizers	Ministry of Health (Bhutan Food and Drug Authority)	Pesticide Act 2000
14	Plastic packing materials	Ministry of Industry, Commerce, and Employment	• DOT Letter Reference No. DTAT- 17/2005/1325 dated 17/10/2005
15	Gold and silver in excess of the duty-free baggage allowance	Royal Monetary Authority	■ Foreign Exchange Regulation 2022
16	Currency in excess of the prescribed limit	Royal Monetary Authority	 Foreign Exchange Regulation 2022
17	Valuable Cultural Properties	Ministry of Home Affairs	 Movable Cultural Property Act of Bhutan 2005. Convention on the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage.



5্ৰ'স্ট্ৰম'ন্থ্ৰন্'শ্ৰিশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



Sl. No.	Restricted Goods	Legislation & International Conventions	
18	Ozone Depleting Substances (ODS)	Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources (Department of Environment and Climate Change)	 Regulation on ODS Vienna Convention on the Protection of the Ozone Layer Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer
19	Intellectual Property Rights	Department of Media, Creative Industry & Intellectual Property	Copyright Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan, 2001
20	Mines and Mineral Products	Department of Geology and Mines	Mines and Mineral Management Act 1995
21	Alcohol and Alcohol products	Department of Revenue and Customs	Excise Tax Act of Bhutan, 2025

Sl. No.	Prohibited Goods	Prohibited Goods Responsible Agencies			
1	Narcotics and psychotropic drugs and substances	Ministry of Health - BFDA	Narcotic Drugs & Substance Abuse Act 2015		
2	Pornographic materials	Department of Trade, MoICE	Notified Rules & Regulations		
3	Animals and plants classified as endangered species and their parts and products	Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources – Department of Forest	CITES; Forest & Nature Conservation Act 2023		
4	Tobacco and tobacco products as prescribed in section 26 of the Tobacco Control Rules and Regulations	Ministry of Health - BFDA	Section 15 of Tobacco Act of Bhutan: All tobacco products imported shall show the country of origin and appropriate health warnings.		



বৃহ্ন স্ট্রমান্ত্র্বাবেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 5: LIST OF HOUSEHOLD AND PERSONAL EFFECT ITEMS – (TRANSFER OF RESIDENCE)

Durable household and personal effects shall include the following:

- (a) Clothing
- (b) Furniture
- (c) Household items and kitchen appliances
- (d) Television sets and cameras
- (e) Other similar items or professional equipment and gadgets in quantities not of a commercial nature.



বৃত্তম স্ট্র্ম শ্রের দেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 6: EXEMPTION ELIGIBILITY AND CATEGORIZATION CERTIFICATION FORM FOR DIPLOMATIC MISSIONS, INTERNATIONAL AGENCIES, AND THEIR EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL VOLUNTARY ORGANIZATIONS.

EXEMPTION APPI	LICANT DETAILS:
NAME	
DESIGNATION	
AGENCY	
TYPE OF ORGANIZ	ZATION/AGENCY (Please Tick)
DIPLOMATIC MISSI	ONS:
INTERNATIONAL OF	RGANIZATION:
INTERNATIONALVO	DLUNTARY ORGANIZATION:
DATE OF APPOINTM	IENT: DATE OF RELIEF:
EXEMPTION FOR	(Please Tick) :
VEHICLE	
PERSONAL EFFECT	
CONSUMABLE ITEM	
RECOMMENDATION	ON BY MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS, ROYAL GOVERNMENT OF BHUTAN
(With Official Name,	Designation, Office, Date, Seal and Signature)





ANNEX 7: EXEMPTION CERTIFICATE

			<u>E</u>	EXEMPTION CERTIFICATE			
Exe	mption No				Date:	ł	
Finan	ce hereby exempts	s, M/s		ing Laws of the Department of R , TPN No Excise Tax on the goods as d	from t	he payme	
Sl. No.	Invoice No.	Date	BTC Code	Commodity Description	Unit	Qty.	Value
ssue	d By:						
Kindl	ly note that:						
2.		in this docur	nent should be	oe valid for a period of 3 months f validated against Bhutan eCMS b tage.			
						CHARLEST OF REVENUE	BALLAN ASSESSMENT OF THE STATE



বৃত্তম স্ট্রমান্ত্র বিশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



	REFUND EXEMPTION CERTIFICATE								
		xemption No.:				Declai	ratior	1 No.:	
Fir M/	ance h	f the powers conferred un nereby exempts M/ , TPN ax□ on the goods as desc	's	fro	T	PN			imported by
	Invoice No.	Consignor/Supplier Name.	Date	BTC Code	Commodity Description	Unit	Qty.	Value in. ()	Refundable Amount
Tagy	ad Den								
	ed By: dly note t	that:							
2	 This certificate is not transferable and shall be valid for a period of 3 months from the date of its issue. The information in this document should be validated against Bhutan eCMS before any action is taken. Subjected to PCA at a later stage. 								
									THE PROPERTY OF BRITISH AND ADDRESS OF THE PROPERTY OF THE PRO



5্মে স্ট্রশন্ত্র নেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 8: AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT & AUTHORISED CLEARING & FORWARDING AGENT OR COURIER SERVICES AGENT

This agreement is executed on	between the Department of Rev	venue & Customs 🗆 or the Regiona
Revenue & Customs Office □ ,	(Location), Bhutan and M/s	
Forwarding Agent (CFA) or Courier	Service Agent (CSA) ,	(Location) bearing trade license
No and CID No	(Proprietor) under the follo	wing terms & conditions.

TERMS & CONDITIONS: -

- (a) Obtain an authorization from each of the consignees from whom it has been appointed to act as agent for clearance of goods through the Customs.
- (b) Advise his clients to comply with the provisions of the Act and in case of non-compliance, shall bring the matter to the notice of the Customs authorities.
- (c) Not withhold information relating to assessment and clearance of imported goods communicated by any office of Customs from a client who is entitled to such information.
- (d) Not withhold any information relating to assessment and clearance of imported goods from the assessing officer.
- (e) Not procure or misuse any restricted information from the Department or any other office of the Royal Government.
- (f) Not attempt to influence the conduct of any official or Customs in any matter pending before such official or his subordinates by the use of threat, false execution, duress or offer or any special inducement or promise of advantage of by the bestowing of any gift or favor or other things of value.
- (g) Maintain proper records and accounts in such forms and manner as may be directed by the Customs authorities and submit them for inspection whenever required and not tamper with any official documents.
- (h) Ensure that all documents prepared or presented by him are strictly in accordance with the legal requirements and contain no false or misleading information.
- (i) Ensure that he discharges his duties as clearing agent with integrity and efficiency both to Customs and his client.
- (j) Enter into an agreement with the Department and comply strictly with the conditions laid down in it.
- (k) If the good are pilfered, lost, damaged or abandoned while in transit to Bhutan, the Customs duty applicable shall be realized from the concerned clearing agent. In addition, any other liabilities payable to the Royal Government of Bhutan and the Government of India shall also be realized from them.
- (l) Any change in the terms of the Trade and Commerce Agreement between the Royal Government of Bhutan and the Government of India may automatically entail a change likewise in the terms of these conditions.
- (m) The Clearing Agent shall pay applicable Customs duties, taxes, 0.25% Service charge on the CIF value of goods, and other charges if any, and furnish the following documents for release of goods from Customs control.



বৃহমান্ত্রশ্রন্থা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



- i. Importer's copy of the Import license.
- ii. Bill of lading/airway bill.
- iii. Invoice attested by the bank through which payment has been made.
- iv. Packing list.
- v. Certificate of Origin.
- vi. Insurance policy documents.
- vii. vii. Import Duty Exemption Certificate and Bhutan Sales Tax Exemption Certificate, wherever applicable; and
- viii. Import declaration form duly filled up in all respects.

Where a Bhutanese Clearing Agent has appointed or authorized an Indian Clearing Agent having valid clearing agent licenses, the Bhutanese Agent is responsible for all acts of Indian Clearing Agents and also ensures that the Indian agent completes the following formalities.

- (a) A copy of the Agreement between their Indian counterparts is submitted to this office for record along with a copy of the Indian Clearing Agent License.
- (b) Authorization for clearance of goods in India shall be issued by the Bhutanese Clearing Agents to the Indian Clearing Agent for each consignment.
- (c) The authorized Indian Clearing agent shall approach the Liaison and Transit Office, Kolkata (LTO) along with the original shipping documents, original import license and a letter of authorization issued by the Bhutanese Clearing Agent.
- (d) If the documents are found to be in order, the LTO or RRCO shall authorize the concerned clearing agent for clearance of goods.
- (e) The clearing agent shall keep the LTO or RRCO fully informed with regard to the progress in the clearance activities.
- (f) The clearing agent shall obtain the road documents from the LTO before the dispatch of the goods to Bhutan.
- (g) In case demurrages are incurred on goods, the same shall be directly settled by the clearing agent with the importer and the Department shall have no arbitration role in the dispute.
- (h) Wherever necessary, the clearing agent shall employ surveyors at port to conduct surveys on the goods before they are dispatched to Bhutan.
- (i) The clearing agent shall produce transit insurance documents to the LTO prior to the dispatch of the goods to Bhutan.
- (j) All goods, which are not of a full truck load, shall be deposited either in the Bhutan Customs warehouse or in the warehouse approved by the Customs authorities of India. The clearings agents, under no circumstances, shall be permitted to store any goods in other storage place. The storage charges shall be realized from the concerned clearing agents as per the rates given in Annex-I of the rules.
- (k) The clearing agent shall complete the cross-border formalities with the Indian Customs Authority in keeping with the Protocol to the Trade and Commerce Agreement between Royal Government of Bhutan and the Government of India
- (l) The clearing agent shall submit to the Liaison and Transit Office, Kolkata the road documents duly signed by the designated Customs Office in Bhutan and Indian Customs authorities within one month from the date of clearance from the Indian Customs.



5্মে স্ট্রমান্ত্র দেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



Validity of agreement

The agreement shall be valid for the period of three years. On expiry of the validity period, the Department of Revenue and Customs, may renew the agreement for a period of three years provided:

- i. The performance of the authorized Clearing and Forwarding Agent is found to be satisfactory.
- ii. The authorized Clearing and Forwarding Agent has not violated any of the obligations specified in the agreement.
- iii. Renew the bank guarantee for extended contract period.

Forfeiture of Security Deposit

Any violation of the above conditions or any provision of the Customs Act and Trade and Commerce Agreement shall lead to forfeiture of the security deposit, liability for payment of duties and taxes including fines and penalties by the agent as per Chapter 4 of the General provisions of the Bhutan Sales Tax, Customs and Excise Act, 2000.

De-registration/Cancellation

SIGNATURE:

The Department may revoke the registration of an authorized Clearing Agent on any of the following grounds.

- a. Failure to comply with any of the provisions of the Act and these Rules and
- b. Misconduct which renders him unfit to act as **a** clearing **agent**; Provided that no such revocation shall be made unless a notice has been issued to the authorized clearing agent informing him of the grounds.

Both **parties** have mutually accepted the above conditions. Defaulters, if any shall be penalized in accordance with the laws of the Kingdom. The Agreement is signed on this dayin the presence of the following witness.

SIGNATURE:

Mr./Ms	Mr./Ms
Contact No:	Director/Regional Director
Address:	DRC/RRCO
DE SOUS OF BRUIEN OF BRUIE	A CONTRACTOR OF THE STATE OF TH
WITNESS of CFA/CSA:	WITNESS of DRC/RRCO:
Mr./Ms	Mr./Ms
CID No:	CID No:
Address:	Address:



বৃত্তম'স্ট্রস'শ্বনা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 9: LIST OF AUTHORIZED CUSTOMS PORTS OF ENTRY AND EXIT

District/Dzongkhag	Regional Office Name	Ports of Entry and Exit
		MDP Phuntsholing- Jaigaon Customs
Ohalda a	DDCC Dhuntshaling	Allay land Customs- Jaigaon Customs
Chukha	RRCO - Phuntsholing	Lhamoizingkha - Kulkuli
		Samtse Main Gate- Chamurchi
		Gomtu- Birpara
Samtse	RRCO - Samtse	Pugli- Birpara
		Bhimtar- Loksan
		Jiti- Nagarkata
Paro	RRCO - Paro	Paro International Airport
0	ppco calcula	Gelephu- Hathisar
Sarpang	RRCO - Gelephu	Sompangkha-Ulta-Pani
		Samdrup Jongkhar Main Gate- Darranga
	RRCO -	Pelzomthang (Nanglam)-Kamardwisa (Rangapani)
Samdrup Jongkhar	Samdrup Jongkhar	Jomotshangkha (Daifam)-
		Phuntshorabtenling (Motanga Industrial Area)



5্ম'ষ্ট্রম'ষ্ট্রর'নেনা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 10: AIR PASSENGER MANIFEST

Manif	fest No:					Ma	nifest l	Date:						
Aircra	aft Name:			Fli	ght No:									
Carrie	er Code:			Nu	mber o	f Passen	gers:							
Estim	ated Time of A	rrival:		Est	timated	Time of	Departure	:						
Last P	Port of Call:			Po	rt of Ini	itial Arri	val:							
Subse	equent Port of (Call:				To	Total no of Baggage checked in:							
Туре	Designation	Passport no	Passport Expiry Date	Expiry Date of Surname			Middle Name	Gender	Citizenship country code	Seating Info.	Baggage Info.	Baggage Tag no.	Passenger Name record locator no.	Remarks





বৃত্যু স্থান্ত বিশ্ব Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 11: AIR CARGO MANIFEST

Manifest	No:			Manifest Date:			
Airline N	Airline Name:		Flight No:				
Rotation No:				Estimated Tin Arrival/Depart			
Sl. No	Port of Arrival	Port of Load No of Airway Bills		Invoice No	Invoice Date	Invoice Amount	Invoice Currency





र्टल.क्ष्रम.क्षेत्र.प्तया Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 12: ROAD CARGO MANIFEST

	torib erikee w									
BOUND TYPE:	CU	STOMS STATIC	N:	RRCO	D:		PORT OF EN	ΓRY/ EXIT:		
REGIME:	CO	NTAINERIZED:								
TRAILER NO:	BU	LK/NON-CONT	AINERIZED:	☐ TYPE OF VEHICLE: VEHICL				GISTRATION	NO:	
DRIVER NAME:	NE	W/USED VEHI	CLE:							
DRIVER'S CONT.	ACT NO:	DRIVER'S	TY: EXPECTED TIME OF ARRIVAL/DEPARTURE				PLACE OF L	OADING:		
CONTAINER NO	:				SEAL N	NO:				
CLEARING AGE	NT:									
TOTAL NO OF IN	NVOICE:									
NO OF PACKAGE	DESCRIPTION OF GOODS	MARKS/NO	CONSIGNOR	CONSIG	SNEE	INVOICE NO	INVOICE DATE	INVOICE AMOUNT	INVOICE CURRENCY	

Kindly note that:

- This certificate is not transferable and shall be valid for a period of 3 months from the date of its issue. The information in this document should be validated against Bhutan eCMS before any action is taken.





বৃত্যু স্থ্যস্থা সূত্র দেখা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 13: RAIL MANIFEST

Manife	st No:					Manifest Date:		
Train N	lo:					Bound Type:		
Custon	ns Station:					Estimated time	of arrival/Departure:	
Port of	Loading:					Rail Car no/Con	ntainer no:	
Sl. No	Descri of go		No of packages	Gross Weight (kgm)	1	Shipper Name	Consignee Name	Consignor Name
		·						





55্থ' স্থ্য স্থ্য বেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 14: SINGLE ADMINISTRATIVE DOCUMENTS(SAD)

A STATE OF THE PARTY OF THE PAR	To a series of the series of t	MIN	र्नियः देव विष्णु गुन्तः । रह्मः क्षेत्रः द्वेत्रः विष्णु EVERNMENT OF E ISTRY OF FINANC ENT OF REVENUE AND	E		1. DECLAI	RATION				
	2. Exporter	/Consignor	a. Number: c. Custom Stat	ion:	b. Date: d. RRCO:						
			3. Port of Entry		4. Port of Exit						
	5. Supplier	(s)	6. Importer/Consi	ignee	7. Certificate o	f Origin					
	8. Invoice				-1						
	a. Number	b. Date	c. Value Forex	d. Value (Nu)	e. Freight (Nu)	ight (Nu) f. Insurance g. Trans (Nu) Value					
	9. Previous D	Declaration	10. Release Date		11. Clearing an Agent/Declar	_					
	12. Warehous	se	13. Country of Exp	ortation	14. Country of	Destination					
	15. Transpo	orter/Airline	16.Manifest/AWB		17. Driver						
	18. Date of A	Arrival			19. Date of De	parture					
	Packages and scription of Goods	General D Total Qua	escription of Goods		packages t Weight (KG)	Total Gross	s Weight (KG)				



5্ম'স্ট্র্ম'শ্রুর'মেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



	1			T	1			
	Тах Туре	Asses	ssable unt	Tax Amount	Accounting D	etails	s: Da	te:
	DPF/DAF							
	GST				Receipt No.:		Мо	de:
Duties, Taxes	CDA							
and Fees	ETA							
	DSC							
	Fines & Penaltie	s						
	Total							
This is a compute	r-generated printo		nture is required.	C.P.C	Qual	ity	Quality UOM	
							·	
	Valuation Custom	s Value	Prefe	rence code	Declared Value	ed Value Country of Origin FOB		FOB Value
	Freight Ins	ırance	Oth	er Charges	Currency Code	Excl	nange Rate	Engine and Chassis No
ITEM DETAILS	'			REVENU	E INFORMATION			
	Tax Type	As	sessabl	le Value	Rate		Tax Am	ount
	DPF/DAF							
	GST							
	CDA							
	ETA							
	DSC							
	Fines & Penalties							
	1				1		l .	



Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 15: CUSTOMS EXAMINATION REPORT

												Date.	
Na	me:												
Ta	x Payer No	. (TPN):											
De	claration N	lo:											
De	claration D	ate:											
De	claration T	ype:											
Im	port licens	e No. (If any)										
Co	ntainer Tyj	pe:											
Sl.			Declarati	on as per	invoice	rvoice Inspect					on Findings		
No	Descripti	on	HS	Qty	UoM	Value	CoO	HS	Qty	UoM	Value	CoO	Remarks
									<u> </u>				
\$	Status:	Ins	pection lea	d by:		Jo	oint Inspec	tion Do	ne by:			Remarks:	:



5্থে স্থ্রমানুর বেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 16: EXECUTION OF A SECURITY DEPOSIT OR BOND.

Payer Nu and calle administ Departm	/Wed surety (ies) (unless rators, liquidators, le	repugnant to gal representa e & Cus	OR CID Notes the context atives and a toms for	Number or meaning t assignees) her r a sum	hereof, incl eby hold an	hereinafter i ude our/my heii id firmly bind ou Iu	referred to as rs, successors, urselves/myse 	the Person executors,
WHERE goods de	AS the Regional Dire tailed below without pe specified by the Dep	ctor, Regional payment of ap	Revenue &	Customs Offi	ce,	havi	ng permitted	
Sl. No.	Commodity Description	Quantity	Value (Nu.)	Customs Duty (Nu.)	Excise Tax (Nu.)	Goods & Service Tax (Nu.)	Total Tax (Nu.)	Remarks
	HEREAS the person a	greed to pay	in full all C	ustoms Duty a	and/or Tax	es within	days from	the date of
produce	IEREAS the Regional a Bank Guarantee	/Security for	the amo	unt of this	bond, the	sum of Nu		(Ngultrum
The follo	wing two conditions s	shall be applic	able to the	person in exec	cuting this b	oond		
2. The p	erson shall observe a erson shall pay on or oods under the Custo	before a date	specified in	the above Bo	nd all Custo	oms duty and/or	Taxes on acc	ount of the
other Of	by declared that the I ficer of Customs reco 017 and, Rules and R	over the sum o	due from th	ne person as p				-
	always that the liabil	•	•		-		•	_

the surety) in respect of or in relation, to the obligation and conditions to be performed or discharged by the person nor

shall it be necessary to sue the person before suing the surety for amount hereunder.



5্ম'ইম'মূব'নেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



Witness: Name, Address & Signature with Co	ontact details
Nama Addross with Contact datails & Signa	uture of Surety/Cuaranter
Name, Address with Contact details & Signa	nure of Surety/Guarantor:
	[Legal Stamp]
FOR OFFICIAL USE:	
ACCEPTED for and on behalf of the Director	r/Regional Director of the Department on day of
Date:	Signature:
	Name
	Designation
	Designation



বৃত্তমান্ত্রী সম্প্রা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 17: SAMPLE MEMO

Memo No).:								Date:				
	of the power con r verification, test				ection 72 of the	e Customs	Act of Bhuta	n, 2017,	we hereby t	ake the u	ınder mentio	ned commodities a	
Date:			Ti	ime:			Place	e:					
Name & ad	Jame & address in full of the owner of the sample:												
Name & De	Mode of transport: Name & Designation of official(s): Invoice No.: Invoice Date: Invoice Value:												
втс	Commodity	Unit	Qty	Assessed Value	Assessed Value		ods and vice Tax	Custo	ms Duty	Excis	se Tax	Total Payable	
Code	Description		Qij	for GST	for CD	Rate	Amount	Rate	Amount	Rate	Amount	Amount	
Remarks	:												
Name:				Na	ame and Design	ation:							
Signature:	Signature: Signature:												
Owner/Rep	presentative			Of	ficer In-Charge	;							
In the even	nt of non-complian	nce, the al	oove comr	nodities shall	be dealt as per p	provisions	under the Cu	ıstoms A	ct of Bhuta	n 2017			



55্ম'স্ট্রম'শ্রের'নেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 18: CERTIFICATE FOR AUTHORIZED COMPLIANT TRADER



MINISTRY OF FINANACE ROYAL GOVERNMENT OF BHUTAN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AND CUSTOMS

AUTHORIZED COMPLIANCE TRADER CERTIFICATE

ACT Reference No:	Date of Issue:
M/s, having a Trade License Number .	Tax Payer Number
is/are authorized to declare his consignment under the special Import Production	cedure as laid down in the Customs Act 2017 and the rules thereof. This
certificate is valid till (Three Years) from the date of	its issue.





বৃত্তম স্ট্রমান্ত্রশ্রন্থা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 19: AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT AND THE WAREHOUSE OPERATOR

I/We, Mr./Ms. having registered with the Department of Revenue and Customs as warehouse operator shall hereby agree to abide by the following terms and conditions laid down by the Department of Revenue and Customs.

Terms and Conditions:

- 1. The warehouse premise shall be clearly marked as a Customs control area.
- 2. The goods stored in the warehouse shall remain under the custody of the owner of the warehouse.
- 3. Maintain a system of internal controls capable of detecting illegal or irregular transactions.
- **4.** Proper maintenance of accounts and records.
- **5.** Provide an all-risk insurance policy, which includes natural calamities and fire, for a sum equivalent to the amount of duty involved on the dutiable goods proposed to be stored in the public or private warehouse at any point of time.
- **6.** The owner of the warehouse shall be liable to pay customs duty, taxes and fines on goods, which are not accounted correctly or lost, or damaged, or destroyed.
- 7. The warehouse operator shall file with the Department a monthly return of the receipt, storage, operations and removal of the goods in the warehouse, within ten days after the close of the month to which such return relates.
- **8.** Where the period specified in the Customs Rules and Regulations of Bhutan: Revised Edition 2023 for warehousing of goods is expiring in a particular month, the operator shall furnish such information to the Department on or before the 10th day of the month immediately preceding the month of such expiry.
- **9.** Any change in the approval due to transfer of ownership, change of location or winding up of the business shall be reported to the Department in writing not later than 30 days from the date of occurrence and a tax clearance certificate must be obtained.
- **10.** In the event of the winding up of the business without the notice of the Department, the warehouse operator shall be liable for any outstanding duty, taxes and applicable charges.

Validity of Agreement

- 11. The agreement shall be valid for a period of three years. The operator may request renewal of the Registration Certificate before one month from the expiry date.
- **12.** On expiry of the validity period, the Department of Revenue and Customs, may, renew the agreement for a period of three years provided:
 - a) The performance of the warehouse operator is found to be satisfactory;
 - b) Valid trade license;
 - c) Compliance record;
 - d) Tax clearance certificate;
 - e) Valid Bank Guarantee, and
 - f) No adverse record or criminal offence committed



Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



Cancellation of Certificate of Registration

- 13. The Department shall cancel the Certificate of Registration in the following circumstances:
 - a) Where the Certificate of Registration is already suspended and the holder fails to take the remedial measure to have the suspension withdrawn;
 - b) Where the holder has committed serious infringement of Customs law and has no further right to appeal.

Discharge or Forfeiture of security

- 14. The security shall be discharged at the winding up of the warehouse operation, provided there is no unsettled issue with the Department or any other relevant agencies.
- The security shall be forfeited, where the warehouse operator breaches the provisions of this rule.
- es, the

16. Where the forfeited security is less that warehouse operator shall pay the addition	n the applicable duty, taxes, fines, penalties, fees and charg onal amount.
Seal, Name and Signature	Name & Signature
DRC	Warehouse Operator
Name and signature	Name and signature
Witness	Witness
	Date: Place:



বৃত্ত স্থ্ৰী স্থানু বিশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 22: FREE BAGGAGE ALLOWANCE FOR AIR PASSENGER

The Bhutanese nationals or the **non-Bhutanese nationals** residing in Bhutan, on their return to Bhutan from any country by air shall be allowed duty **duty-free** baggage allowance as below:

Personal effects up to the assessed value of US\$ 1000 or equivalent in Ngultrum subject to the ceiling prescribed below:

- (a) Alcohol/Spirits 2 bottles, each bottle not larger than one liter
- (b) Perfume: 1 bottle, not larger than 2 ounces
- (c) Gold (including jewellery) 50 grams
- (d) Silver (including jewellery) 1 kilogram
- (e) Clothing items: Maximum of 10 pieces each of type of clothing whether stitched or unstitched
- (f) Other household or personal goods including electronics and bedding shall be limited to one piece each.
- (g) Items of gifts and presents shall be included in the above free allowance.

Free baggage allowance for FOREIGN TOURIST shall be allowed as follows:

- (a) Used personal effects and articles reasonably required for the visit provided items imported are for personal use and shall be re-exported on leaving Bhutan.
- (b) Import free of Customs duty, articles up to Ngultrum 10,000/- or equivalent for personal use or as gifts and travel souvenirs if carried on the person or in the accompanied baggage, including spirit of not more than two liters and perfume of not more than 100 ml.
- (c) High value articles and sports items as approved and imported in reasonable quantities shall be considered under temporary admission considering that the articles or items are re-exported on leaving Bhutan.



বৃত্ত স্থ্ৰী স্থানী Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 24: SAMPLE FOR EXERCISE ON COMPUTATION OF THE WEIGHTED AVERAGE METHOD (FOR ILLUSTRATION PURPOSE ONLY)

Commodity/ Items/Articles	Unit	Quantity	Rate (Nu.)	Value (Nu.)	Proportionate Percentage (%)	Proportionate Value of the Exceeding Value (Nu.)	REMARKS	
				[A]	[E%] = [A]/[B]*100	[D]*[E%]		
X1				10,000.00	11.76	2,352.94	- Applicable	
X2				30,000.00	35.29	7,058.82	duties and taxes to	
Х3				20,000.00	23.53	4,705.88	be levied on the exceeding	
X4				5,000.00	5.88	1,176.47	value against respective	
X5				20,000.00	23.53	4,705.88	proportionate	
Total invoice value	e [B]			85,000.00	100.00	20,000.00	value ascertained.	
Free Baggage Allov	wance limi	it [C]		65,000.00				
Exceeding Value [1	D] = [B]-[C			20,000.00				



বৃত্তথ স্থিপ প্লৱ'নিশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 25: APPROVAL FOR ADVANCE RULING

1.Applicant Details:	b. Applicant Phone No:				
a. Applicant Name:	bilippicant i none ivo				
c. Applicant Address:					
2. Importer/Exporter Details:					
a. Importer/Exporter TPN:		b. Name:			
c. Contact Details:		d. Address:			
Ruling Details: c. Ruling Category: Classification □ Rule of Origin □ Valuation □ d. Validity of the Ruling:					
Sl. No Commercial Description	Ruling	Remarks			
Approved By: Note: This Ruling is issued based on the materials provided by the applicant such as Description/Brochures/Photographs/Samples/					



বৃত্ত ইম'ন্থুব'নেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 26: OFFENCE REPORT (DETENTION/SEIZURE/CONFISCATION) FOR GOODS

OFFENCE REPORT																	
	CUSTOMS	OFFICE:	Е:		TYPE OF OFFENCE:		REGIME:				MODE OF TRANSPORT:						
	POINT OF	INT OF ENTRY/EXIT:		OFFENCE NO:		DECLARATION NO:			O: 1	ROAD MANIFEST NUMBER:							
INFORMATION	TPN/CID/	PN/CID/PASSPORT NO:		OFFENCE DATE:		DECLARATION DATE:			ATE:	VEHICLE NUMBER:							
	SUPPLIER	R NAME & ADI	ORESS:		MODUS OPERANDI:		NDI:										
					TRANSAC	CTION E	HISTORY										
	CUSTOMS	DUTY:	GST:				EXCISE TAX: FEES A			EES AN	D CHARGES:	TOTAL:					
REVENUE						ADD	ITIONAL I	PAYMEN	T SU	JMM	ARY						
	CUSTOMS	DUTY:		GS	ST:	EXCISE TAX: FEES AN			S AND C	O CHARGES: TOTAL:							
								DITION	AL P	AYM							
ITEM	HS Code	Commodity Description	UOM	Qty.	Value	Value	Value	Value	GS'	Т	Custom	s Dut	.y	Excise	Tax	Fines &P	enalties
DETAILS		T. P.		C -J ·		Rate%	Amount	Rate%	Am	ount	Rate%	Amount	Total Fines	Status			
	Total																
NOTE: In k	eeping with	n the Custom	s Act of	Bhuta	an 2017, th	ne trade	r has the ri	ght to ap	pea	l.			N-merci	The small of the s			



বৃহ্ অ'স্ট্রঝ'ন্থর'বেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



DETENTION OF PERSON

1. Personal Details of the Person Detained	4. Rights of the Detainee (as per Section
Full Name:	140 of the Act)
Date of Birth:Gender:	The detainee is hereby informed of their rights,
National Identification No/Passport Number/	including but not limited to:The right to be informed of the reason for detention.
Aadhaar Card Number:	 The right to be informed of the reason for detention.
	The right to communicate with a relative or friend.
Address:	 The right to medical assistance if required. Any other relevant rights provided under Section 140.
Contact Number:	Signature of Detainee:
2. Reason for Detention	
■ Offense/Alleged Violation:	Signature of Detaining Officer:
■ Grounds for Detention:	Date:
Date and Time of Detention:	Date:
Authorizing Officer:	
Designation:	
3. Place of Detention	5. Transfer Notification (if applicable)
■ Location:	In the event that the detainee needs to be transferred for investigation purposes:
Address:	
	New Location:
Expected Duration:	
	Reason for Transfer:
	 Reason for Transfer: Date and Time of Transfer:
	Date and Time of Transfer:
	Date and Time of Transfer:



ন্ত্ৰ স্থ্ৰী শস্ত্ৰ নেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 27: SUMMON ORDER

Regional Revenue and Customs Office, Department of Revenue and Customs, Ministry of Finance						
TO BE SERVED BY CUSTOMS OFFICER OF THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AND CUSTOMS:						
:(Defendant)						
In this case, it appears to the Department that there is reasonable cause to believe that you have violated a condition, regulation, or instruction concerning the probationary sentence heretofore imposed upon you, in that:						
that: You are therefore summoned to the Regional Revenue and Customs						
Office,on						
atM. to show cause why probation should not be revoked.						
If you fail to appear as ordered herein, the relevant provisions of the Act and rules will be revoked.						
Certificate of Service						
[] Return receipt of certified mail received in this office on [Date]						
[] I certify that I personally delivered a copy of the Order and Summons to						
SERVER'S Signature, Name, Designation and Seal						



বৃত্তম স্থ্ৰম নেশা Department of Revenue and Customs Ministry of Finance Royal Government of Bhutan



ANNEX 28: OVERTIME FEES

For Export, Transit, Post and Import from India

Particulars	Overtime fees per declaration on public holidays and weekends		
Time	6 am – 10 pm		
For EXPORT, TRANSIT and IMPORT from INDIA	Nu. 50		
For POST	Nu. 25		

For Import and Export via AIR and Import from countries other than India

Particulars	Lump-sum Overtime Fees per Hour on working days and public holidays
For import and export via AIR	Nu. 600
For import from COUNTRIES OTHER THAN INDIA	Nu. 600

For Export during peak off-hours and seasonal periods

Particulars	Overtime fees per hour
Time	10 pm – 6 am
For export during peak off-hour and seasonal period	Nu. 600